Charles University

Faculty of Science

Study programme: Molekulární biologie a biochemie organismů



Filip Doležal

Cortical microcircuits and synaptic transmission in epilepsy Kortikální mikrookruhy a synaptický přenos v epilepsii

Bachelor's thesis

Supervisor: Ing. Michaela Králíková, Ph. D.

Prague, 2024

Prohlášení

Prohlašuji, že jsem závěrečnou práci zpracoval samostatně, a že jsem uvedl všechny použité informační zdroje a literaturu. Tato práce, ani její podstatná část, nebyla předložena k získání jiného, nebo stejného akademického titulu.

Poděkování

Tímto bych chtěl poděkovat Ing. Michaele Králíkové, Ph. D. za to že se mnou měla trpělivost, podporovala mě, a celkově pro mě byla skvělou školitelkou. Dále bych chtěl poděkovat Mgr. Salome Kylarové, Ph. D., Ing. Janu Kudláčkovi, DiS., Ph. D. a zbytku Ústavu fyziologie 2. LF UK, za to že mi byli a stále jsou skvělými akademickými vzory i přáteli. Nakonec bych chtěl poděkovat Adéle Drbalové za to, že pro mě byla během psaní bakalářské práce silnou emoční podporou, a mé rodině, za celkovou podporu v průběhu mého studia.

Abstrakt

Epilepsie je trvalá predispozice mozku generovat epileptické záchvaty. Toto onemocnění je ve společnosti značně rozšířené a pacientům výrazně komplikuje život. Jelikož se jedná o onemocnění definované pouze společnými příznaky, výzkum je náročný kvůli množství příčin, které k epilepsii vedou. Přestože existuje mnoho forem terapie cílících na různé etiologie této nemoci, často je náročné nasadit pacientům správnou léčbu a asi třetina z nich stále trpí záchvaty refrakterními vůči jakékoli léčbě. Nicméně bylo identifikováno množství proteinů, které se podílejí na synaptickém přenosu, a popsáno, jaké důsledky mohou mít změny v jejich funkci. Změna funkce jednotlivých proteinů ovlivňuje aktivitu synapsí a také to, jak se jednotlivé synapse zapojí v rámci neuronálních mikrookruhů. Mikrookruhy jsou motivy zapojení excitačních a inhibičních neuronů, důležité pro přenos a zpracování informací v mozku. Mikrookruhy mohou být dočasně, nebo i dlouhodobě pozměněny patogenními ději na úrovni molekulárních mechanismů, které mohou zodpovídat za vznik a propagaci epileptických záchvatů.

Klíčová slova

epilepsie, iktogeneze, mikrookruhy, synaptický přenos

Abstract

Epilepsy is a permanent predisposition of the brain to generate epileptic seizures. This widespread disease significantly impairs patients' life. Since epilepsy is defined only by its common symptoms, the research is complicated due to the variety of possible causes that can result in this disorder. Although many forms of therapy targeting different etiologies of this disorder exist, it is often challenging to select the right treatment and about one third of the patients still suffer from refractory seizures. Nevertheless, several proteins that participate in synaptic transmission and may undergo specific changes in their function have been identified. These changes in function affect both the activity of synapse and the involvement of synaptic connections in neuronal microcircuits. Microcircuits are common motifs of connections amidst excitatory and inhibitory neurons that are necessary for the transmission and processing of information in the brain. Microcircuits can be temporarily or permanently impaired by pathogenic processes on the molecular level, which may be responsible for the origination and propagation of seizures.

Keywords

epilepsy, ictogenesis, microcircuits, synaptic transmission

Abbreviations

AMPA	α -amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid
AMPAR(s)	AMPA receptor(s)
ASM(s)	anti-seizure medication(s)
E/I	excitation/inhibition
FCD(s)	focal cortical dysplasia(s)
GABA	γ-aminobutyric acid
GABA _A R(s)	GABA type A receptor(s)
HME	hemimegalencephaly
KA	kainate (kainic acid)
KAR(s)	kainate receptor(s)
КО	knockout
MCD(s)	malformation(s) of cortical development
MFS	mossy fiber sprouting
mTOR	mammalian target of rapamycin
NMDA	N-Methyl-D-aspartic acid
NMDAR(s)	NMDA receptor(s)
PMG	polymicrogyria
SNAP25	synaptosomal-associated protein 25
SNARE(s)	soluble N-ethylmaleimide-sensitive factor attachment proteins
	receptor(s)
Stx1B	syntaxin 1B
StxBP1	syntaxin-binding protein 1
SV(s)	synaptic vesicle(s)
Syb2	synaptobrevin 2
TSC	tuberous sclerosis complex

Table of contents

1. Introduction
2. Focal cortical dysplasia
2.1. Types of FCD
2.2. Other MCDs manifesting with epilepsy
3. Ictogenesis
4. Synaptic transmission
4.1. Synaptic vesicle-related proteins
4.1.1. Synapsins
4.1.2. Synaptic vesicle glycoprotein 2A
4.1.3. SNARE proteins
4.2. Ionotropic receptors
4.2.1. Glutamatergic receptors
4.2.2. GABAergic receptors10
5. Cortical microcircuits
5.1. Microcircuits in epilepsy
5.1.1. Feed-forward inhibition
5.1.2. Other microcircuit motifs
5.2. Other neuronal changes related to epilepsy15
6. Conclusion16
7. References

1. Introduction

Epilepsy is one of the most prevalent neurological disorders in the human population (Feigin et al., 2019), that manifests itself by predisposition for, or presence of two or more recurrent, unprovoked seizures (Fisher et al., 2014). The greatest complication in search for a proper treatment of epilepsy is the fact that it is not just one disease with the exact same origin, but a wide range of different pathologies with varying causes, that only manifest in similar way (Berg and Millichap, 2013). While therapies to treat epilepsy are present, around 30 % of patients are refractory to anti-seizure medication (ASM) (Mohanraj and Brodie, 2005), and even though many new ASMs have been introduced in recent years, the proportion of refractory epilepsies is not decreasing (Löscher and Schmidt, 2011). And patients that use ASMs with success still have to cope with adverse effects, some of which may be impairing their quality of life (Marson et al., 2005). Surgical intervention is an option for treatment of refractory epilepsies, although it is not always viable since the regions of the brain responsible for eliciting seizures might host critical functions. Therefore, it is imperative for researchers to study cellular and molecular mechanisms underlying epilepsy to find possible new treatments for patients using novel approaches, such as gene therapy (Zhang and Wang, 2021).

In this thesis, I am going to focus on specific proteins regarding synaptic transmission and their role in epilepsy. Later I am going to review some of the cortical microcircuit motifs and their alterations in the brain and assess how said alterations may result in epileptic seizures.

2. Focal cortical dysplasia

Epileptogenesis is a long-lasting process that is induced genetically (genetic epilepsy) or by traumatic event (acquired epilepsy). It alters the brain in a way that it becomes more susceptible to seizures over time and proceeds long after the first seizure appears (Williams et al., 2009). While epilepsy may affect any part of the brain, in this thesis, I am going to focus primarily on the cortex. There, one of the most frequent causes of epileptogenesis is a range of disorders known as malformations of cortical development (MCD) (Barkovich et al., 1996).

Focal cortical dysplasia (FCD) is one of the MCDs that is in many cases responsible for refractory epilepsy (Taylor et al., 1971; Desbiens et al., 1993). FCD is a result of somatic mutation in the genes for proteins involved in the N-glycosylation pathway (SLC35A2) and in the mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) pathway (Mirzaa et al., 2016). MTOR is a serine/threonine kinase that participates in the regulation of cell cycle, metabolism and other cellular processes (Sarbassov et al., 2005). The mutation occurs early in the development in

very few brain cell precursors, which leads to mosaicism in the cortex. Affected cells show abnormal migration, shape, growth, function and connectivity (Spreafico et al., 1998).

2.1. Types of FCD

FCDs divide into 3 subtypes with characteristic histological images. FCD type I is described by lesions with dyslamination of cortical architecture. FCD type II features immature and dysmorphic neurons (type IIa), balloon-like cells (type IIb) and delaminated lesions. Type III is similar to type one, however it has to be located adjacent to other lesions, like hippocampal sclerosis or brain tumor (Najm et al., 2018). FCD Type II is often investigated in epilepsy research, since the dysmorphic neurons are suspected to be the one of the initiators of the epileptic activity in the brain (Chvojka et al., 2024) and the delamination in cortex may further contribute to propagation of abnormal signaling and recruitment of local neurons into seizures.

2.2. Other MCDs manifesting with epilepsy

A plethora of malformations exist other than the FCD, that often result in refractory epilepsy. MTORopathies are a group of MCDs, that are caused by altered signaling in the mTOR pathway, similarly to FCD. These include tuberous sclerosis complex (TSC) (Huang et al., 2008) and hemimegalencephaly (HME) (Lee et al., 2012). TSC is a result of mutation in TSC1 and TSC2 proteins. These two proteins participate in regulation of the mTOR signaling pathway (Huang et al., 2008). TSC causes small, benign tubers to appear all over the human body including the brain, which are in most cases accompanied by epilepsy (Henske et al., 2016). In HME, the AKT3 enzyme, which is a part of the mTOR pathway, shows increased activity. This leads to one hemisphere of the brain being enlarged, which coincides with the emergence of epilepsy (Poduri et al., 2012). Polymicrogyria (PMG) is a MCD that causes delamination in the cortex and formation of excessive amounts of small gyri with impaired synaptic connections on brain surface (Stutterd et al., 1993; Sarnat and Flores-Sarnat, 2021). Multiple causes of PMG have been identified such as chromosomal aberrations (Kobow et al., 2020; Stutterd et al., 2020) or variety of mutations, for example mutations in the proteins regarding the mTOR pathway (Stutterd et al., 2018, 2021) or subunit of NMDA channel (Fry et al., 2018).

3. Ictogenesis

Ictogenesis is a set of complex processes that induce transition from inter-ictal state to seizure. Many different causes of ictogenesis have been described so far (Blauwblomme et al.,

2014). However, one abnormality is characteristic for ictogenesis in any epileptic tissue, this being the local imbalance between excitatory and inhibitory output (E/I) of specific neuronal population (Lau et al., 2000; Yu et al., 2006). Researchers suggest that one of the reasons for E/I imbalance may be the presence of abnormally connected clusters of neurons (Bragin et al., 2000; Bikson et al., 2003).

While ASMs targeting E/I imbalance might be able to restore it and avert ictogenesis, they come with the price of affecting the whole brain and causing adverse effects. That's why future epilepsy therapies need to target specific cells or proteins, so the patient's quality of life is affected in the least way possible.



Figure 1: Step-by-step scheme of epilepsy onset and seizure generation. Steps 1 and 2 describe events leading to seizure susceptibility (epileptogenesis), while steps 3 and 4 describe events that happen preceding any seizure (ictogenesis) (author's illustration).

4. Synaptic transmission

Synaptic transmission allows one neuron's action potential to induce a change of membrane potential on the following neuron through release of neurotransmitter and its binding to postsynaptic receptors (chemical synapses) or through ion flow through intercellular pores

(electrical synapse). Precise regulation and maintenance of synaptic transmission are necessary for the brain to function without any pathologies. Over the last decades, excitatory and inhibitory chemical synapses have been extensively studied and their role in epilepsy is now much more understood, but more research is still needed to fill our knowledge gaps. Researchers also suggest that synapses and their components might be the target of future ASMs or other selective epilepsy therapies (Zaitsev et al., 2021).



Figure 2: Illustration of a synapse with proteins that will be further discussed in this chapter. 1) presynaptic neuron, 2) synaptic cleft, 3) postsynaptic neuron. A) synaptic vesicle filled with molecules of neurotransmitter, B) Synapsin I, C) Synaptic vesicle glycoprotein 2A, D) SNARE complex, E) ionotropic receptors, F) molecular motor moving vesicle across actin fiber (author's illustration).

4.1. Synaptic vesicle-related proteins

A complex, yet precise cascade of molecular interactions is necessary for the release of the neurotransmitter from the presynaptic neuron into the synaptic cleft. The neurotransmitter is stored inside synaptic vesicles (SVs). These vesicles need to be transported to the proximity of the membrane and fused so the neurotransmitter can enter the synaptic cleft. The following proteins are indispensable in this interaction and interestingly, researchers have shown multiple times that dysfunctions in those proteins are associated with epilepsy.

It is often important to take these proteins into consideration when studying epilepsy, even when we know they are not the original culprit causing this disorder. Expression patterns of some of these proteins may be altered by seizures (Yu et al., 2018) or disruptions in signaling pathways (Toering et al., 2009). Other presynaptic proteins might influence the strength of the synapse (Selak et al., 2009). These are some of the possible mechanisms that could generally explain why some epilepsies tend to worsen over time.

4.1.1. Synapsins

Firstly, it is necessary for the SVs to be transported to the synaptic membrane. This is done using common molecular motors that move the vesicle along the actin fiber, although one special class of proteins, called synapsins is needed in this interaction. Synapsins are a family of phosphoproteins found exclusively in axon terminals of neurons (De Camilli et al., 1983). Mammals possess genes for 3 different synapsins labeled from I to III (Kao et al., 1999). Synapsins I and II are activated by protein kinase A or Ca²⁺/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II (Ueda et al., 1973; Huttner and Greengard, 1979). Function of synapsin I is to crosslink the SV with actin fiber so the SV can then migrate along toward the axon terminal and fuse with the cell membrane (Bähler et al., 1990). This makes synapsin I one of the key elements in neurotransmitter release. Synapsin II plays a role in formation of new synapses (Han et al., 1991) and regulation of the number of SVs (Sugiyama et al., 2000). Synapsin III is important for axonal growth and recycling of SVs (Feng et al., 2002). Although all synapsin share cell localization, they are expressed at different levels in glutamatergic and GABAergic neurons (Bragina et al., 2007). Knockout (KO) of synapsins I or II in mice resulted in lower number of SVs on presynaptic neurons in both excitatory and inhibitory (E/I) synapses. At the same time, the imbalance between E/I currents shifted in favor of excitation. This led to epileptic phenotype and furthermore, KO of multiple synapsins at once increases the severity of seizures (Farisello et al., 2013). The proper function of synapsins is therefore needed for the brain to stay seizurefree.

4.1.2. Synaptic vesicle glycoprotein 2A

Next player in exocytosis is synaptic vesicle glycoprotein 2A (SV2A). SV2A is crucial in regulating the quantity of releasable SVs during exocytosis (Xu and Bajjalieh, 2001). The precise mechanism of this interaction remains unknown. However, researchers hypothesize that SV2A either modifies responsiveness of SVs to Ca^{2+} ions during exocytosis (Chang and Südhof, 2009) or that it might play a role in the process of filling SVs with neurotransmitter due to its homology with bacterial sugar transporters (Bajjalieh et al., 1992; Chang and Südhof, 2009). SV2A KO mice were found to display epileptic phenotype and shortened lifespan

(Crowder et al., 1999). In human patients, loss-of-function mutation in SV2A led to epileptic phenotype (Al-Maawali et al., 2024).

In human patients with FCD, TSC or hippocampal sclerosis, expression and localization of SV2A is severely altered. Neuropil in proximity of the lesion shows reduced expression, however dysmorphic neurons present in FCD type II show increased SV2A protein levels expression (Toering et al., 2009). Since lack of SV2A leads to impaired inhibitory neurotransmission (Crowder et al., 1999) and dysmorphic neurons are the ones thought to be responsible for abnormal activity in epilepsy (Chvojka et al., 2024), this discovery suggests that SV2A might have a crucial role in creating E/I imbalance and affecting epileptogenesis in MCD patients. Changes in expression of SV2A is the target molecule for ASM levetiracetam (LEV) (Toering et al., 2009). LEV is an anticonvulsant drug (Gower et al., 1992), that was approved in 1999 (Crepeau and Treiman, 2010), but only in 2004 it was discovered that LEV works by interacting with SV2A (Lynch et al., 2004).

4.1.3. SNARE proteins

After the SV reaches the membrane, a group of specialized proteins mediate the fusion of SV and the membrane. These proteins are called soluble N-ethylmaleimide-sensitive factor attachment proteins receptors (SNAREs, Fig. 3). They are a large group of membrane-bound proteins that mediate exocytosis. They are divided into 2 groups based on their localization in the cell, t-SNAREs (target), which are bound to the inner side of the cell membrane, and v-SNAREs (vesicle), which are located on the outside of vesicle (Söllner et al., 1993). These proteins interact to form a structure known as the SNARE complex. The main neuronal SNARE complex consists of three proteins that modulate the fusion of SV with the cell membrane by interacting with their highly conserved, α -helical domains (Sutton et al., 1998). After induction of seizures in rats, the expression of all the SNARE proteins was decreased and cognitive dysfunction emerged (Yu et al., 2018). However, individual proteins of the SNARE complex.



Figure 3: SNARE complex mediating the fusion of SV with the membrane. Syt-1: synaptotagmin 1, Munc-18: syntaxin-binding protein 1, Syb-2: synaptobrevin 2, Stx-1: syntaxin 1, SNAP25: synaptosomal-associated protein 25. Borrowed from Jurado, 2014.

Genetic screening of epilepsy patients revealed a wide array of mutations that impaired the proper function of syntaxin 1B (Stx1B), a main neuronal t-SNARE (Schubert et al., 2014; Vlaskamp et al., 2016; Vardar et al., 2020). Interestingly, different mutations in Stx1B led to different epileptic disorders (Wolking et al., 2019; Krenn et al., 2021). To properly facilitate the process of SV fusion, Stx1B must be assisted by syntaxin-binding protein 1 (StxBP1). Default conformation of Stx1B is 'closed' and cannot bind with other SNARE proteins to form the SNARE complex. By interacting with StxBP1, Stx1B adopts 'open' conformation, which allows it to participate in the SNARE complex (Dulubova et al., 1999). Some mutations in Stx1B were found to significantly affect this interaction in mice. Deletion of one residue led to absolute inability to interact between Stx1B and StxBP1 and caused mild epilepsy (Vardar et al., 2020). Two different point mutations resulted in altered neurotransmission and epilepsy by differently compromising the interaction with StxBP1. Surprisingly, the first mutation resulted in decreased neurotransmission, while the second resulted in increased neurotransmission (Vardar et al., 2020). It has also been shown that Stx1B is necessary for proper regulation of exocytosis (Mishima et al., 2014) and reuptake of GABA (Mishima et al., 2021). Complete lack of this protein was found to be lethal in mice (Wu et al., 2015). KO of syntabulin, a protein which regulates the trafficking of Stx1B, led to increased expression of Stx1B in the vicinity of the presynaptic membrane. This resulted in E/I imbalance and epilepsy (Ke et al., 2023).

Other proteins needed for the assembly of the SNARE complex are synaptosomalassociated protein 25 (SNAP25) and synaptobrevin 2 (Syb2). SNAP25 is a t-SNARE that has been linked to several neurological disorders, including epilepsy (Corradini et al., 2009; Antonucci et al., 2016). Deficiency in this protein leads to absence of fast SV release (Sørensen et al., 2003). Several mutations in the gene coding this protein have been proven to cause epilepsy. Mutated SNAP25 either exhibits lowered expression (Watanabe et al., 2015), or generally cannot sustain its proper function (Rohena et al., 2013). However the precise mechanisms of how SNAP25 affects exocytosis and formation of SNARE complex are unknown and researchers hypothesize that only decrease in expression of SNAP25 is insufficient to cause epileptiform activity (Watanabe et al., 2015). Besides acting as the part of the SNARE complex, this protein was also found on the postsynaptic side (Hussain et al., 2019), where it significantly contributes to maturation of dendrites (Tomasoni et al., 2013) and also influences the postsynaptic localization of ionotropic receptors, and therefore contributes to the strength of synapse (Selak et al., 2009; Lau et al., 2010). Regulation of translation by microRNA (miRNA) is a crucial step in expression of this protein, which, if not executed correctly, may lead to epilepsy. On the other hand, this mechanism can be used to selectively decrease expression levels of SNAP25 to compensate for excessive neurotransmitter release. A specific molecule of miRNA, miR-128 was found to decrease neurotransmission and therefore attenuate seizures, which makes it a potential candidate as future therapy (Wang et al., 2021).

Syb2 is the last member of the SNARE complex. In the mouse kindling model of epilepsy, reduced expression of Syb2 led to resistance towards seizures (Matveeva et al., 2012). Other than that, not much is known about the role of Syb2 in epilepsy.

4.2. Ionotropic receptors

Two classes of receptors are found on the postsynaptic membrane. Metabotropic receptors can activate various signaling pathways by binding neurotransmitters. Ionotropic receptors form channels that open after binding neurotransmitters and allow the flow of ions into the postsynaptic cell. This generates E/I postsynaptic potentials. Disturbances in the function of ionotropic receptors may lead to altered activation of postsynaptic neurons and therefore allow for generation and spreading of epileptiform activity in the brain. Moreover, seizures are capable of altering gene expression and subunit composition of ionotropic receptors (Loddenkemper et al., 2014), which can significantly affect the properties of the synapse.

4.2.1. Glutamatergic receptors

Glutamate is the major excitatory neurotransmitter in the mammalian brain. As many as 89 % of all synapses might utilize this neurotransmitter (Braitenberg and Schüz, 1998). Three different classes of ionotropic receptors interacting with glutamate have been identified: Nmethyl-D-aspartate receptors (NMDAR), α-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid receptors (AMPAR) and kainic acid receptors (KAR) (Hassel and Dingledine, 2012). AMPARs mediate rapid responses while NMDARs mediate longer-lasting responses (Hestrin et al., 1990). All three classes of glutamatergic receptors are tetrameric (Moriyoshi et al., 1991; Wu et al., 1996) molecules that form a glutamate-gated channel for Na⁺, K⁺ and Ca²⁺ cations. However, the Ca²⁺ permeability in AMPARs and KARs is strictly tied to their subunit composition (Hollmann et al., 1991). NMDARs and AMPARs are common targets of ASMs since they mediate most of the excitatory inputs in the brain. KARs, beside their main role as postsynaptic glutamatergic receptor, possess many regulatory functions, such as being able to regulate the surface expression of AMPARs (Petrovic et al., 2017) or regulate the neurotransmitter release when located on presynaptic membrane (Rodríguez-Moreno et al., 1997). But due to their similarities with AMPARs, they are a challenging target of research and much about them still remains to be discovered (Carta et al., 2014). All classes of ionotropic receptors have been linked to epilepsy multiple times.

Many mutations of NMDARs' subunits associated with epilepsy were identified in human patients, specifically on GluN1, GluN2A and GluN2D subunits. Mutations in GluN1 subunit are often associated with PMG (Fry et al., 2018). Receptors with mutated GluN1 subunit are more potent and require lower concentration of agonist in comparison to nonmutated subunits to be activated, which results in increased excitation (Fry et al., 2018). Mutations in GluN2A and Glun2D subunits also increase potency of the receptor and therefore result in increased excitation (Li et al., 2016; Chen et al., 2017b). Overall, increased potency of NMDARs is a common cause for epilepsy. Therefore, many antagonists of NMDARs are in these cases used to treat epilepsy (Sivakumar et al., 2022).

Under normal physiological conditions, AMPARs are not just bound to the postsynaptic zone of the membrane, but rather extensively transported across the cytoplasm and the whole neuronal membrane (Charsouei et al., 2020). In epilepsy patients, membrane expression levels of AMPARs are increased in the focal seizure onset zone, but reduced in most other brain areas, resulting in abnormal neuronal activity (Eiro et al., 2023). Hypofunction of the GluA2 and GluA4 subunits was observed to correlate with epilepsy. In human patients suffering from

MCDs and rats with hypoxia-induced seizures, expression of the GluA2 subunit was significantly decreased (Sanchez et al., 2001; Loddenkemper et al., 2014). However, another group of researchers recorded an increase in expression of GluA2 subunit in rats injected with convulsant pilocarpine (Russo et al., 2013). This paradoxical behavior of GluA2 subunits has not been clarified yet. The GluA2 subunit is crucial for AMPARs, since its presence renders the receptor non-permeable for Ca^{2+} ions (Hollmann et al., 1991). Therefore, lack of this subunit may lead to increased influx of Ca^{2+} , which could alter various metabolic processes since Ca^{2+} acts as a second messenger inside the cell (Rasmussen et al., 1976). GluA4 contributes to the correct function of feed-forward inhibition microcircuit (discussed in 5.1.1.).

Out of the 3 ionotropic glutamate receptor classes, KARs weren't getting much attention from researchers in the past, despite kainate (KA) injections being used to evoke epilepsy in rodent models since the late seventies (Ben-Ari et al., 1979). This was likely the result of KA working as an agonist to both AMPARs and KARs (Patneau and Mayer, 1991; Paternain et al., 1995) and hence it being complicated to distinguish between effects of those receptor classes on neurotransmission. However, using AMPAR blockers, researchers uncovered that activation of KARs by KA in rat hippocampus not only increased excitation, but also resulted in activation of KARs that were located on the presynaptic membrane, which decreased the rate of GABA release and impaired GABAergic inhibition (Rodríguez-Moreno et al., 1997). Similarly to other receptors, KARs role in epilepsy is dependent on their subunit composition. Deficiency in GluR5 subunit led to epileptic phenotype in patients (Sander et al., 1997), deficiency in GluR6 subunit led to resistance towards KA-induced seizures in mice (Mulle et al., 1998). Despite this, no effort to develop ASMs that would act solely as a KAR antagonist or would alter this receptor's properties in any way, has been reported (Lerma and Marques, 2013).

4.2.2. GABAergic receptors

With 20 to 30 % of cortical neurons releasing this neurotransmitter (Bloom and Iversen, 1971; Hendry et al., 1987), γ -aminobutyric acid (GABA) is the most common inhibitory neurotransmitter in the mammalian cortex. Increasing evidence suggests that hypofunction of GABA-mediated inhibition, which is indispensable for maintaining the right E/I balance, can provoke or sustain epileptiform activity (McCormick, 1989). In rodent models of genetic and acquired epilepsy, a decrease of either of GABAergic neurons, or GABAergic receptors has been reported (Olsen et al., 1985; Pitkänen et al., 1987).

Two types of GABA receptors are present on neuronal membrane, ionotropic GABA type A receptors (GABA_ARs), and metabotropic, G-protein coupled GABA type B receptors. GABA_ARs are pentameric (Nayeem et al., 1994) molecules consisting of several different subunits that form a chloride channel, which is opened upon binding of the GABA molecule (Fig. 4). Since neurons maintain a low level of intracellular Cl⁻, Cl⁻ starts flowing into the cell through open GABA_ARs and generates inhibitory postsynaptic potential on the membrane. This hyperpolarization, together with shunting of excitatory inputs, efficiently decreases the excitability of postsynaptic neuron. Agonists of GABA_ARs, such as benzodiazepines, have been used as ASMs for decades (Haefely et al., 1975) and new ASMs that act as GABA_AR agonists are still being developed (Janković et al., 2021). Binding of these compounds leads to increased influx of Cl⁻ and fast inhibition, which can in some cases restore the E/I balance. Accordingly, some convulsants, such as bicuculline (Curtis et al., 1971) and pentylenetetrazole (Huang et al., 2001) were proven to act as GABA_AR antagonists.



Figure 4: Structure of GABA_AR. a) structure and glycosylation spots of the GABA_AR subunit, assembled pentameric receptor with directions of ion flow, b) top-down scheme of canonical GABA_AR oscillating between open/close conformation by binding a molecule of GABA. Borrowed from Sallard et al., 2021.

GABA_ARs consist of 5 subunits that can influence their properties. While multiple subunits have been identified ($\alpha 1-\alpha 6$, $\beta 1-\beta 3$, $\gamma 1-\gamma 3$, δ , ε , θ , π , ρ), only some combinations were found to be viable in the mammalian brain, and most GABA_ARs consist of 2 α -, 2 β - and 1 γ subunit (Sieghart and Sperk, 2002). The $\beta 3$ subunit was found to play a significant role in onset and progression of multiple neurodevelopmental disorders, including epilepsy (Homanics et al., 1997; DeLorey et al., 1998). Mutations in this subunit have been identified as a cause for infantile and childhood epilepsy (Tanaka et al., 2008; Papandreou et al., 2016). These mutations are located close to the N-terminus of $\beta 3$ subunit, where they often result in increased glycosylation. This increase in glycosylation leads to improper folding, transport and assembly of the GABA_ARs, which results in decreased GABA_AR-mediated inhibition (Tanaka et al., 2008). Mutations in other subunits, such as $\alpha 1$ and $\gamma 2$ were recently discovered to cause epilepsy as well, but more details about these remain to be uncovered (Zhang et al., 2023).

It has been shown that the number of GABA_ARs on neuronal membranes can be reduced by their internalization during seizures. When epileptiform activity was induced in hippocampal slices of epileptic mice, GABA_ARs began to intensively accumulate intracellularly (Goodkin et al., 2005). In a later study on mouse model, researchers unraveled that internalization of GABA_ARs depends on the subunit composition. In later experiment using the similarly acquired hippocampal cultures, subunits $\beta 2$, $\beta 3$ and $\gamma 2$ were found to be the ones that had their surface expression reduced (Goodkin et al., 2008). Due to a variety of $\beta 3$ mutations and epileptic phenotypes, ranging from mild to serious, and less than 60% efficacy of ASMs in $\beta 3$ -related epilepsies (Yang et al., 2022), subunit $\beta 3$ is a critical chokepoint in epileptic brain. Thus, designing novel personalized therapies, acting onto this receptor, should be one of the aims of future research.

5. Cortical microcircuits

Epilepsy is not just a result of one dysfunction in one synaptic protein inside one cell. These changes on a molecular scale frequently lead to larger changes in connections and interactions amidst larger populations of neurons or whole brain regions. The circuitry of the epileptogenic zone and its surroundings must be considered when we're trying to understand this disorder deeply. Previously mentioned mechanisms are critical to the onset of epilepsy and generation of seizures, but we need to put them in the larger context to gain a deeper understanding of this disorder.

5.1. Microcircuits in epilepsy

In recent years, many researchers have tried to unravel the mysteries of ictogenesis. Focusing on connections between neurons might help us understand how seizures propagate. While mapping every neuronal connection in the brain is impossible in the near future for its complexity, some microcircuit motifs that repeatedly appear in the mammalian brain have been isolated. Researchers examined their roles in brain networks and managed to link alterations in these microcircuits to epilepsy. In this chapter, I am going to detail some of the microcircuit motifs relevant to epilepsy (Fig. 5), some other larger-scale changes in the brain connectivity and how they are related to the generation of seizures.



Figure 5: Common motifs of cortical microcircuits. Inhibitory neurons are red, excitatory neurons purple. Borrowed from Paz and Huguenard, 2015.

5.1.1. Feed-forward inhibition

Feed-forward inhibition (FFI) has been extensively studied in epileptic patients and animal models. This microcircuit motif is significant mainly in the context of cortico-thalamocortical (CTC) network. Sensory signals travel into thalamus and from there, they are relayed directly to appropriate cortical regions as excitatory signals (Constantinople and Bruno, 2013). As a part of modulation and processing of sensory information, cortical neurons send signals back to the thalamic neurons (Caviness Jr. and Frost, 1980). When this happens, inhibitory neurons in the reticular nucleus are activated and send inhibitory signals to the thalamic neurons. Although this network seems to work as feed-back on a larger-scale, on microcircuit-scale, it is feed-forward, since cortical neurons activate inhibitory neurons which inhibit the thalamic neurons. Multiple studies found the loss of FFI in the CTC network to be a trigger for epilepsy (Beyer et al., 2008; Paz et al., 2011). Mice with impaired FFI presented enhanced synchrony of the network that resulted in seizures. Impaired FFI was a result of deficiency in the GluA4 subunit of AMPAR, which is a subunit that is expressed predominantly in thalamus (Golshani et al., 2001). Presence of this subunit leads to faster kinetics of AMPAR (Mosbacher et al., 1994) and therefore lack of it may lead to insufficient signaling. FFI is at the same time the determining factor for the speed of the propagation of epileptiform discharges (Trevelyan et al., 2007). In a later study, using *in silico* model of corticothalamic pathway, it was found that strengthening excitation of inhibitory neurons in thalamus leads to higher control and suppression of seizures (Chen et al., 2017a).

However, FFI is necessary in other parts of the brain besides the CTC network. Selective deactivation of calcium or sodium channels in mouse neocortical inhibitory neurons leads to loss of FFI and causes seizures (Rossignol et al., 2013; Tai et al., 2014). Similarly, deactivating potassium channels in mouse amygdala prevents inhibitory neurotransmission, impairs FFI and results in seizures (Thouta et al., 2021).

5.1.2. Other microcircuit motifs

Feed-back inhibition (FBI) is a simple pathway consisting of an excitatory neuron and an inhibitory neuron. When an excitatory neuron activates a connected inhibitory neuron, the inhibitory neuron releases GABA that hyperpolarizes or shunts the membrane of the original excitatory neuron in response. This mechanism is prominent in the hippocampus, which is a part of the brain often strongly affected by epilepsy. In a rat model of epilepsy induced by pilocarpine injections, the dynamic of the FBI was significantly altered. The release probability of neurotransmitter was reduced, but only on excitatory synapses onto inhibitory neurons (Pothmann et al., 2019). This resulted in insufficient inhibition and seizures. However, the mechanisms on molecular/cellular level that could lead to these changes are still unknown.

Counter inhibition is a microcircuit motif that has been studied for example in the reticular nucleus of the thalamus. Counter inhibition has the potential to disrupt the synchrony in thalamo-cortical neuronal oscillations and therefore prevent seizures (Huntsman et al., 1999). Moreover, the ASM clonazepam was found to increase the strength of counter inhibition, which led to even stronger desynchronization (Huguenard and Prince, 1994).

Lastly, recurrent excitation is a microcircuit motif that can be found commonly in the healthy brain (Kisvárday et al., 1986). Nevertheless, in temporal lobe epilepsy, excitatory

granule cells in the hippocampus can undergo the process of mossy fiber sprouting (MFS). MFS is a result of local abnormal signaling of the mTOR pathway (Buckmaster et al., 2009). During the MFS, axons of granule cells (mossy fibers) grow extensively, and new synapses are generated. Out of these new synapses, more than 95 % of them are excitatory. This newly formed excitatory network is recurrently connected and serves as the foundation for generating seizures (Buckmaster et al., 2002). Furthermore, the excitation from the mossy cells is strengthened and their synapses are potentiated by epileptic activity, which further increases the likelihood of seizures (Botterill et al., 2019; Nasrallah et al., 2022).

5.2. Other neuronal changes related to epilepsy

Besides abnormalities in specific microcircuit motifs, other alterations in neuronal connectivity are found in epilepsy. In the FCD, a significant decrease in density of inhibitory neurons takes place. While this happens in both FCD type I and II, it is more distinct in type II (Garbelli et al., 2006; Barinka et al., 2010). Furthermore, in FCD type II, the 2 abnormal cellular types, the dysmorphic neurons and balloon-like cells, are surrounded by a halo of inhibitory synapses connecting onto them (Spreafico et al., 2000; André et al., 2010). This may be a compensatory change where the interneurons try to silence the hyperactive, dischargegenerating abnormal neurons. When researchers measured the GABAergic synaptic transmission onto the dysmorphic neurons, they found out that the increased number of synapses fully outweighs the overall decrease in inhibitory neuron density (Zhong et al., 2021). Therefore, they theorize that insufficient GABAergic transmission in FCD is a result of a dysfunction in synaptic proteins, most likely GABAARs and GABA transporters (Calcagnotto et al., 2005; André et al., 2010), rather than being a result of a decrease in density of inhibitory synapses. Another reason why seizures appear so often in FCD might be an increased number of excitatory synapses (Brill and Huguenard, 2010) and their strengthening inside the whole FCD lesion (Cheng et al., 2022).

A multitude of neuron types is present anywhere in the brain. This heterogeneity is very prominent among inhibitory neurons, over 60 different types have been identified so far (Tasic et al., 2018). In epilepsy patients, the heterogeneity of neurons, both excitatory and inhibitory, is decreased in the whole brain. However, a smaller decrease in heterogeneity is needed among inhibitory neurons in comparison to excitatory neurons to result in epilepsy (Rich et al., 2022). This further suggests that inhibitory neurons and their connections are a chokepoint in the epileptic brain and need to be addressed in future epilepsy therapies.

6. Conclusion

The similarity of epileptic phenotypes, yet a multitude of different mechanisms on molecular, cellular, microcircuit and whole-brain level leading to them is the biggest issue of epilepsy research and treatment. While symptoms of most epilepsies can be treated, there is still a significant number of patients whose epilepsies are refractory. Due to the diversity in etiology of epilepsies, there is a poor chance of coming up with a 'magic' pill or procedure to cure all epilepsies. One of the possible solutions for researchers and physicians is to focus on personalized therapies, precisely tailored for each patient's needs.

Genetic studies play a fundamental role in epilepsy. I reviewed multiple mutations of synaptic proteins leading to epilepsy, however, tens of different genes for proteins regarding various synaptic transmission and cellular signaling have been linked to epilepsy so far (McTague et al., 2016). With genetic methods like CRISPR/Cas9 assisted gene editing becoming more accessible and already being used to treat some forms of epilepsy in animal models (Colasante et al., 2020), it is only a matter of time until this form of therapy becomes available for human patients. This might be a chance for patients with refractory epilepsy to finally become seizure-free and for patients that take ASMs to live seizure-free without the downside of adverse effects.

However, this probably will not render ASMs obsolete. Although genetic methods seem very promising, literature suggests that seizures and abnormal activity in the brain during epilepsy lead to several changes that may increase the seizure susceptibility and some of them may be long lasting or permanent. For example, synaptic proteins, such as SNAP25, AMPARs or KARs are capable of affecting the strength of the synapse. Therefore, replacing mutated gene with healthy variant may fix the cause, but seizures may endure due to consequential alterations on synaptic level. In this case, ASMs might find use to balance E/I and adjust the activity and potency of these synapses, until the expression levels of synaptic proteins return to normal state. However, this may be overcome by diagnosing epilepsy as soon as possible and preventing those changes from happening by treating patients at an early stage of the disease.

In terms of microcircuits and changes on cellular level in epilepsy, further research is needed to help us understand the relationship between those, and specific proteins or mechanisms that are responsible for them. Nevertheless, current literature implies that the context of E/I and the process of strengthening or weakening the synapses in the microcircuit are necessary to understand how seizures arise.

An alteration of expression or function of one protein may have a different, or completely opposite effect in an excitatory neuron and in an inhibitory neuron and the effect also depends on the location inside the microcircuit. Both increase and decrease in neurotransmission can in the end result in epilepsy. Situations like this urge us to revisit some ASMs that work by generally decreasing neurotransmission, since they might impair specific microcircuits where lower activity would lead to seizures. But interestingly, when researchers tested those ASM, they found that they spare the majority of inhibitory neurons of their effect. This happens because they only fire in brief episodes which makes them resistant to the blocking of Na⁺ channels (Pothmann et al., 2014).

The future goals of epilepsy research should therefore be: 1) Continue to search for hallmarks that will help us diagnose epilepsy as soon as possible. 2) Learn to distinguish if specific alteration or dysfunction in protein is causal or consequential for epilepsy in a given context. 3) Strive to conceive new means of anti-epilepsy therapies that act on the exact origin of this disorder, rather than sticking to ones that act non-specifically or only suppress the consequences. However, the consequential changes in neurotransmission must be taken into consideration, so we can fully understand why some means of therapy may or may not work.

7. References

- Al-Maawali, A., Al-Murshedi, F., Al-Futaisi, A., Mansy, A., Al-Habsi, A., and Girisha, K. M. (2024). Biallelic variants in the synaptic vesicle glycoprotein 2 A are associated with epileptic encephalopathy. *Eur. J. Hum. Genet.* 32, 243–246. doi: 10.1038/s41431-023-01493-8
- André, V. M., Cepeda, C., Vinters, H. V., Huynh, M., Mathern, G. W., and Levine, M. S. (2010). Interneurons, GABA currents, and subunit composition of the GABAA receptor in type I and type II cortical dysplasia. *Epilepsia* 51, 166–170. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1167.2010.02634.x
- Antonucci, F., Corradini, I., Fossati, G., Tomasoni, R., Menna, E., and Matteoli, M. (2016). SNAP-25, a Known Presynaptic Protein with Emerging Postsynaptic Functions. *Front. Synaptic Neurosci.* 8. doi: 10.3389/fnsyn.2016.00007
- Bähler, M., Benfenati, F., Valtorta, F., and Greengard, P. (1990). The synapsins and the regulation of synaptic function. *BioEssays* 12, 259–263. doi: 10.1002/bies.950120603
- Bajjalieh, S. M., Peterson, K., Shinghal, R., and Scheller, R. H. (1992). SV2, a Brain Synaptic Vesicle Protein Homologous to Bacterial Transporters. *Science* 257, 1271–1273. doi: 10.1126/science.1519064
- Barinka, F., Druga, R., Marusic, P., Krsek, P., and Zamecnik, J. (2010). Calretinin immunoreactivity in focal cortical dysplasias and in non-malformed epileptic cortex. *Epilepsy Res.* 88, 76–86. doi: 10.1016/j.eplepsyres.2009.09.021
- Barkovich, A. J., Kuzniecky, R. I., Dobyns, W. B., Jackson, G. D., Becker, L. E., and Evrard, P. (1996). A Classification Scheme for Malformations of Cortical Development. *Neuropediatrics* 27, 59–63. doi: 10.1055/s-2007-973750
- Ben-Ari, Y., Lagowska, J., Tremblay, E., and Le Gal La Salle, G. (1979). A new model of focal status epilepticus: intra-amygdaloid application of kainic acid elicits repetitive secondarily generalized convulsive seizures. *Brain Res.* 163, 176–179. doi: 10.1016/0006-8993(79)90163-X

- Berg, A. T., and Millichap, J. J. (2013). The 2010 Revised Classification of Seizures and Epilepsy. *Contin. Lifelong Learn. Neurol.* 19, 571. doi: 10.1212/01.CON.0000431377.44312.9e
- Beyer, B., Deleuze, C., Letts, V. A., Mahaffey, C. L., Boumil, R. M., Lew, T. A., et al. (2008). Absence seizures in C3H/HeJ and knockout mice caused by mutation of the AMPA receptor subunit Gria4. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 17, 1738–1749. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddn064
- Bikson, M., Fox, J. E., and Jefferys, J. G. R. (2003). Neuronal Aggregate Formation Underlies Spatiotemporal Dynamics of Nonsynaptic Seizure Initiation. *J. Neurophysiol.* 89, 2330–2333. doi: 10.1152/jn.00764.2002
- Blauwblomme, T., Jiruska, P., and Huberfeld, G. (2014). "Chapter Seven Mechanisms of Ictogenesis," in *International Review of Neurobiology*, eds. P. Jiruska, M. de Curtis, and J. G. R. Jefferys (Academic Press), 155–185. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-418693-4.00007-8
- Bloom, F. E., and Iversen, L. L. (1971). Localizing 3H-GABA in Nerve Terminals of Rat Cerebral Cortex by Electron Microscopic Autoradiography. *Nature* 229, 628–630. doi: 10.1038/229628a0
- Botterill, J. J., Lu, Y.-L., LaFrancois, J. J., Bernstein, H. L., Alcantara-Gonzalez, D., Jain, S., et al. (2019). An Excitatory and Epileptogenic Effect of Dentate Gyrus Mossy Cells in a Mouse Model of Epilepsy. *Cell Rep.* 29, 2875-2889.e6. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2019.10.100
- Bragin, A., Wilson, C. L., and Engel Jr., J. (2000). Chronic epileptogenesis requires development of a network of pathologically interconnected neuron clusters: A hypothesis. *Epilepsia* 41, S144– S152. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1157.2000.tb01573.x
- Bragina, L., Candiracci, C., Barbaresi, P., Giovedì, S., Benfenati, F., and Conti, F. (2007). Heterogeneity of glutamatergic and GABAergic release machinery in cerebral cortex. *Neuroscience* 146, 1829– 1840. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2007.02.060
- Braitenberg, V., and Schüz, A. (1998). "Different Kinds of Synapses," in *Cortex: Statistics and Geometry of Neuronal Connectivity*, eds. V. Braitenberg and A. Schüz (Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer), 59–62. doi: 10.1007/978-3-662-03733-1_12
- Brill, J., and Huguenard, J. R. (2010). Enhanced Infragranular and Supragranular Synaptic Input onto Layer 5 Pyramidal Neurons in a Rat Model of Cortical Dysplasia. *Cereb. Cortex* 20, 2926–2938. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bhq040
- Buckmaster, P. S., Ingram, E. A., and Wen, X. (2009). Inhibition of the Mammalian Target of Rapamycin Signaling Pathway Suppresses Dentate Granule Cell Axon Sprouting in a Rodent Model of Temporal Lobe Epilepsy. J. Neurosci. 29, 8259–8269. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4179-08.2009
- Buckmaster, P. S., Zhang, G. F., and Yamawaki, R. (2002). Axon Sprouting in a Model of Temporal Lobe Epilepsy Creates a Predominantly Excitatory Feedback Circuit. *J. Neurosci.* 22, 6650–6658. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.22-15-06650.2002
- Calcagnotto, M. E., Paredes, M. F., Tihan, T., Barbaro, N. M., and Baraban, S. C. (2005). Dysfunction of Synaptic Inhibition in Epilepsy Associated with Focal Cortical Dysplasia. *J. Neurosci.* 25, 9649– 9657. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2687-05.2005
- Carta, M., Fièvre, S., Gorlewicz, A., and Mulle, C. (2014). Kainate receptors in the hippocampus. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 39, 1835–1844. doi: 10.1111/ejn.12590
- Caviness Jr., V. S., and Frost, D. O. (1980). Tangential organization of thalamic projections to the neocortex in the mouse. *J. Comp. Neurol.* 194, 335–367. doi: 10.1002/cne.901940205
- Chang, W.-P., and Südhof, T. C. (2009). SV2 Renders Primed Synaptic Vesicles Competent for Ca2+-Induced Exocytosis. *J. Neurosci.* 29, 883–897. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4521-08.2009
- Charsouei, S., Jabalameli, M. R., and Karimi-Moghadam, A. (2020). Molecular insights into the role of AMPA receptors in the synaptic plasticity, pathogenesis and treatment of epilepsy: therapeutic potentials of perampanel and antisense oligonucleotide (ASO) technology. *Acta Neurol. Belg.* 120, 531–544. doi: 10.1007/s13760-020-01318-1
- Chen, M., Guo, D., Xia, Y., and Yao, D. (2017a). Control of Absence Seizures by the Thalamic Feed-Forward Inhibition. *Front. Comput. Neurosci.* 11. doi: 10.3389/fncom.2017.00031
- Chen, W., Tankovic, A., Burger, P. B., Kusumoto, H., Traynelis, S. F., and Yuan, H. (2017b). Functional Evaluation of a De Novo GRIN2A Mutation Identified in a Patient with Profound Global

Developmental Delay and Refractory Epilepsy. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 91, 317–330. doi: 10.1124/mol.116.106781

- Cheng, L., Xing, Y., Zhang, H., Liu, R., Lai, H., Piao, Y., et al. (2022). Mechanistic Analysis of Micro-Neurocircuits Underlying the Epileptogenic Zone in Focal Cortical Dysplasia Patients. *Cereb. Cortex* 32, 2216–2230. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bhab350
- Chvojka, J., Prochazkova, N., Rehorova, M., Kudlacek, J., Kylarova, S., Kralikova, M., et al. (2024). Mouse model of focal cortical dysplasia type II generates a wide spectrum of high-frequency activities. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 190, 106383. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2023.106383
- Colasante, G., Lignani, G., Brusco, S., Di Berardino, C., Carpenter, J., Giannelli, S., et al. (2020). dCas9-Based Scn1a Gene Activation Restores Inhibitory Interneuron Excitability and Attenuates Seizures in Dravet Syndrome Mice. *Mol. Ther.* 28, 235–253. doi: 10.1016/j.ymthe.2019.08.018
- Constantinople, C. M., and Bruno, R. M. (2013). Deep Cortical Layers Are Activated Directly by Thalamus. *Science* 340, 1591–1594. doi: 10.1126/science.1236425
- Corradini, I., Verderio, C., Sala, M., Wilson, M. C., and Matteoli, M. (2009). SNAP-25 in Neuropsychiatric Disorders. *Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci.* 1152, 93–99. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.2008.03995.x
- Crepeau, A. Z., and Treiman, D. M. (2010). Levetiracetam: a comprehensive review. *Expert Rev. Neurother.* 10, 159–171. doi: 10.1586/ern.10.3
- Crowder, K. M., Gunther, J. M., Jones, T. A., Hale, B. D., Zhang, H. Z., Peterson, M. R., et al. (1999). Abnormal neurotransmission in mice lacking synaptic vesicle protein 2A (SV2A). *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 96, 15268–15273. doi: 10.1073/pnas.96.26.15268
- Curtis, D. R., Duggan, A. W., Felix, D., and Johnston, G. A. R. (1971). Bicuculline, an antagonist of GABA and synaptic inhibition in the spinal cord of the cat. *Brain Res.* 32, 69–96. doi: 10.1016/0006-8993(71)90156-9
- De Camilli, P., Cameron, R., and Greengard, P. (1983). Synapsin I (protein I), a nerve terminal-specific phosphoprotein. I. Its general distribution in synapses of the central and peripheral nervous system demonstrated by immunofluorescence in frozen and plastic sections. *J. Cell Biol.* 96, 1337–1354. doi: 10.1083/jcb.96.5.1337
- DeLorey, T. M., Handforth, A., Anagnostaras, S. G., Homanics, G. E., Minassian, B. A., Asatourian, A., et al. (1998). Mice Lacking the β3 Subunit of the GABAA Receptor Have the Epilepsy Phenotype and Many of the Behavioral Characteristics of Angelman Syndrome. *J. Neurosci.* 18, 8505–8514. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.18-20-08505.1998
- Desbiens, R., Berkovic, S. F., Dubeau, F., Andermann, F., Laxer, K. D., Harvey, S., et al. (1993). Lifethreatening focal status epilepticus due to occult cortical dysplasia. *Arch. Neurol.* 50, 695–700. doi: 10.1001/archneur.1993.00540070015007
- Dulubova, I., Sugita, S., Hill, S., Hosaka, M., Fernandez, I., Südhof, T. C., et al. (1999). A conformational switch in syntaxin during exocytosis: role of munc18. *EMBO J.* 18, 4372–4382. doi: 10.1093/emboj/18.16.4372
- Eiro, T., Miyazaki, T., Hatano, M., Nakajima, W., Arisawa, T., Takada, Y., et al. (2023). Dynamics of AMPA receptors regulate epileptogenesis in patients with epilepsy. *Cell Rep. Med.* 4, 101020. doi: 10.1016/j.xcrm.2023.101020
- Farisello, P., Boido, D., Nieus, T., Medrihan, L., Cesca, F., Valtorta, F., et al. (2013). Synaptic and Extrasynaptic Origin of the Excitation/Inhibition Imbalance in the Hippocampus of Synapsin I/II/III Knockout Mice. *Cereb. Cortex* 23, 581–593. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bhs041
- Feigin, V. L., Nichols, E., Alam, T., Bannick, M. S., Beghi, E., Blake, N., et al. (2019). Global, regional, and national burden of neurological disorders, 1990–2016: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016. *Lancet Neurol.* 18, 459–480. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(18)30499-X
- Feng, J., Chi, P., Blanpied, T. A., Xu, Y., Magarinos, A. M., Ferreira, A., et al. (2002). Regulation of Neurotransmitter Release by Synapsin III. *J. Neurosci.* 22, 4372–4380. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.22-11-04372.2002

- Fisher, R. S., Acevedo, C., Arzimanoglou, A., Bogacz, A., Cross, J. H., Elger, C. E., et al. (2014). ILAE Official Report: A practical clinical definition of epilepsy. *Epilepsia* 55, 475–482. doi: 10.1111/epi.12550
- Fry, A. E., Fawcett, K. A., Zelnik, N., Yuan, H., Thompson, B. A. N., Shemer-Meiri, L., et al. (2018). De novo mutations in GRIN1 cause extensive bilateral polymicrogyria. *Brain* 141, 698–712. doi: 10.1093/brain/awx358
- Garbelli, R., Meroni, A., Magnaghi, G., Beolchi, M. S., Ferrario, A., Tassi, L., et al. (2006). Architectural (Type IA) Focal Cortical Dysplasia and Parvalbumin Immunostaining in Temporal Lobe Epilepsy. *Epilepsia* 47, 1074–1078. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1167.2006.00577.x
- Golshani, P., Liu, X.-B., and Jones, E. G. (2001). Differences in quantal amplitude reflect GluR4- subunit number at corticothalamic synapses on two populations of thalamic neurons. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 98, 4172–4177. doi: 10.1073/pnas.061013698
- Goodkin, H. P., Joshi, S., Mtchedlishvili, Z., Brar, J., and Kapur, J. (2008). Subunit-Specific Trafficking of GABAA Receptors during Status Epilepticus. *J. Neurosci.* 28, 2527–2538. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3426-07.2008
- Goodkin, H. P., Yeh, J.-L., and Kapur, J. (2005). Status Epilepticus Increases the Intracellular Accumulation of GABAA Receptors. *J. Neurosci.* 25, 5511–5520. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0900-05.2005
- Gower, A. J., Noyer, M., Verloes, R., Gobert, J., and Wülfert, E. (1992). ucb L059, a novel anticonvulsant drug: pharmacological profile in animais. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 222, 193–203. doi: 10.1016/0014-2999(92)90855-X
- Haefely, W., Kulcsár, A., Möhler, H., Pieri, L., Polc, P., and Schaffner, R. (1975). Possible involvement of GABA in the central actions of benzodiazepines. *Adv. Biochem. Psychopharmacol.*, 131–151.
- Han, H.-Q., Nichols, R. A., Rubin, M. R., Bähler, M., and Greengard, P. (1991). Induction of formation of presynaptic terminals in neuroblastoma cells by synapsin IIb. *Nature* 349, 697–700. doi: 10.1038/349697a0
- Hassel, B., and Dingledine, R. (2012). "Chapter 17 Glutamate and Glutamate Receptors," in *Basic Neurochemistry (Eighth Edition)*, eds. S. T. Brady, G. J. Siegel, R. W. Albers, and D. L. Price (New York: Academic Press), 342–366. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-374947-5.00017-1
- Hendry, S. H., Schwark, H. D., Jones, E. G., and Yan, J. (1987). Numbers and proportions of GABAimmunoreactive neurons in different areas of monkey cerebral cortex. *J. Neurosci.* 7, 1503–1519. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.07-05-01503.1987
- Henske, E. P., Jóźwiak, S., Kingswood, J. C., Sampson, J. R., and Thiele, E. A. (2016). Tuberous sclerosis complex. *Nat. Rev. Dis. Primer* 2, 1–18. doi: 10.1038/nrdp.2016.35
- Hestrin, S., Nicoll, R. A., Perkel, D. J., and Sah, P. (1990). Analysis of excitatory synaptic action in pyramidal cells using whole-cell recording from rat hippocampal slices. *J. Physiol.* 422, 203–225. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.1990.sp017980
- Hollmann, M., Hartley, M., and Heinemann, S. (1991). Ca2+ Permeability of KA-AMPA—Gated Glutamate Receptor Channels Depends on Subunit Composition. *Science* 252, 851–853. doi: 10.1126/science.1709304
- Homanics, G. E., DeLorey, T. M., Firestone, L. L., Quinlan, J. J., Handforth, A., Harrison, N. L., et al. (1997). Mice devoid of γ-aminobutyrate type A receptor β3 subunit have epilepsy, cleft palate, and hypersensitive behavior. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 94, 4143–4148. doi: 10.1073/pnas.94.8.4143
- Huang, J., Dibble, C. C., Matsuzaki, M., and Manning, B. D. (2008). The TSC1-TSC2 Complex Is Required for Proper Activation of mTOR Complex 2. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 28, 4104–4115. doi: 10.1128/MCB.00289-08
- Huang, R.-Q., Bell-Horner, C. L., Dibas, M. I., Covey, D. F., Drewe, J. A., and Dillon, G. H. (2001). Pentylenetetrazole-Induced Inhibition of Recombinant γ-Aminobutyric Acid Type A (GABAA) Receptors: Mechanism and Site of Action. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* 298, 986–995.

- Huguenard, J. R., and Prince, D. A. (1994). Clonazepam suppresses GABAB-mediated inhibition in thalamic relay neurons through effects in nucleus reticularis. *J. Neurophysiol.* 71, 2576–2581. doi: 10.1152/jn.1994.71.6.2576
- Huntsman, M. M., Porcello, D. M., Homanics, G. E., DeLorey, T. M., and Huguenard, J. R. (1999). Reciprocal Inhibitory Connections and Network Synchrony in the Mammalian Thalamus. *Science* 283, 541–543. doi: 10.1126/science.283.5401.541
- Hussain, S., Ringsevjen, H., Schupp, M., Hvalby, Ø., Sørensen, J. B., Jensen, V., et al. (2019). A possible postsynaptic role for SNAP-25 in hippocampal synapses. *Brain Struct. Funct.* 224, 521– 532. doi: 10.1007/s00429-018-1782-2
- Huttner, W. B., and Greengard, P. (1979). Multiple phosphorylation sites in protein I and their differential regulation by cyclic AMP and calcium. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 76, 5402–5406. doi: 10.1073/pnas.76.10.5402
- Janković, S. M., Dješević, M., and Janković, S. V. (2021). Experimental GABA A Receptor Agonists and Allosteric Modulators for the Treatment of Focal Epilepsy. *J. Exp. Pharmacol.* Available at: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.2147/JEP.S242964 (Accessed April 29, 2024).
- Jurado, S. (2014). The dendritic SNARE fusion machinery involved in AMPARs insertion during longterm potentiation. *Front. Cell. Neurosci.* 8, 407. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2014.00407
- Kao, H.-T., Porton, B., Hilfiker, S., Stefani, G., Pieribone, V. A., DeSalle, R., et al. (1999). Molecular evolution of the synapsin gene family. *J. Exp. Zool.* 285, 360–377. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1097-010X(19991215)285:4<360::AID-JEZ4>3.0.CO;2-3
- Ke, P., Gu, J., Liu, J., Liu, Y., Tian, X., Ma, Y., et al. (2023). Syntabulin regulates neuronal excitation/inhibition balance and epileptic seizures by transporting syntaxin 1B. *Cell Death Discov*. 9, 1–12. doi: 10.1038/s41420-023-01461-7
- Kisvárday, Z. F., Martin, K. A. C., Freund, T. F., Maglóczky, Zs., Whitteridge, D., and Somogyi, P. (1986). Synaptic targets of HRP-filled layer III pyramidal cells in the cat striate cortex. *Exp. Brain Res.* 64, 541–552. doi: 10.1007/BF00340492
- Kobow, K., Jabari, S., Pieper, T., Kudernatsch, M., Polster, T., Woermann, F. G., et al. (2020). Mosaic trisomy of chromosome 1q in human brain tissue associates with unilateral polymicrogyria, very early-onset focal epilepsy, and severe developmental delay. *Acta Neuropathol. (Berl.)* 140, 881– 891. doi: 10.1007/s00401-020-02228-5
- Krenn, M., Schloegl, M., Pataraia, E., Gelpi, E., Schröder, S., Rauscher, C., et al. (2021). Delineation of epileptic and neurodevelopmental phenotypes associated with variants in *STX1B*. *Seizure* 87, 25–29. doi: 10.1016/j.seizure.2021.02.027
- Lau, C. G., Takayasu, Y., Rodenas-Ruano, A., Paternain, A. V., Lerma, J., Bennett, M. V. L., et al. (2010). SNAP-25 Is a Target of Protein Kinase C Phosphorylation Critical to NMDA Receptor Trafficking. *J. Neurosci.* 30, 242–254. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4933-08.2010
- Lau, D., Miera, E. V.-S. de, Contreras, D., Ozaita, A., Harvey, M., Chow, A., et al. (2000). Impaired Fast-Spiking, Suppressed Cortical Inhibition, and Increased Susceptibility to Seizures in Mice Lacking Kv3.2 K+ Channel Proteins. *J. Neurosci.* 20, 9071–9085. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.20-24-09071.2000
- Lee, J. H., Huynh, M., Silhavy, J. L., Kim, S., Dixon-Salazar, T., Heiberg, A., et al. (2012). De novo somatic mutations in components of the PI3K-AKT3-mTOR pathway cause hemimegalencephaly. *Nat. Genet.* 44, 941–945. doi: 10.1038/ng.2329
- Lerma, J., and Marques, J. M. (2013). Kainate Receptors in Health and Disease. *Neuron* 80, 292–311. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2013.09.045
- Li, D., Yuan, H., Ortiz-Gonzalez, X. R., Marsh, E. D., Tian, L., McCormick, E. M., et al. (2016). *GRIN2D* Recurrent De Novo Dominant Mutation Causes a Severe Epileptic Encephalopathy Treatable with NMDA Receptor Channel Blockers. *Am. J. Hum. Genet.* 99, 802–816. doi: 10.1016/j.ajhg.2016.07.013
- Loddenkemper, T., Talos, D. M., Cleary, R. T., Joseph, A., Sánchez Fernández, I., Alexopoulos, A., et al. (2014). Subunit composition of glutamate and gamma-aminobutyric acid receptors in status epilepticus. *Epilepsy Res.* 108, 605–615. doi: 10.1016/j.eplepsyres.2014.01.015

- Löscher, W., and Schmidt, D. (2011). Modern antiepileptic drug development has failed to deliver: ways out of the current dilemma. *Epilepsia* 52, 657–678. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1167.2011.03024.x
- Lynch, B. A., Lambeng, N., Nocka, K., Kensel-Hammes, P., Bajjalieh, S. M., Matagne, A., et al. (2004). The synaptic vesicle protein SV2A is the binding site for the antiepileptic drug levetiracetam. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 101, 9861–9866. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0308208101
- Marson, A., Jacoby, A., Johnson, A., Kim, L., Gamble, C., and Chadwick, D. (2005). Immediate versus deferred antiepileptic drug treatment for early epilepsy and single seizures: a randomised controlled trial. *The Lancet* 365, 2007–2013. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(05)66694-9
- Matveeva, E. A., Price, D. A., Whiteheart, S. W., Vanaman, T. C., Gerhardt, G. A., and Slevin, J. T. (2012). Reduction of vesicle-associated membrane protein 2 expression leads to a kindlingresistant phenotype in a murine model of epilepsy. *Neuroscience* 202, 77–86. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2011.11.055
- McCormick, D. A. (1989). GABA as an inhibitory neurotransmitter in human cerebral cortex. J. Neurophysiol. 62, 1018–1027. doi: 10.1152/jn.1989.62.5.1018
- McTague, A., Howell, K. B., Cross, J. H., Kurian, M. A., and Scheffer, I. E. (2016). The genetic landscape of the epileptic encephalopathies of infancy and childhood. *Lancet Neurol.* 15, 304–316. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(15)00250-1
- Mirzaa, G. M., Campbell, C. D., Solovieff, N., Goold, C., Jansen, L. A., Menon, S., et al. (2016). Association of MTOR Mutations With Developmental Brain Disorders, Including Megalencephaly, Focal Cortical Dysplasia, and Pigmentary Mosaicism. *JAMA Neurol.* 73, 836–845. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2016.0363
- Mishima, T., Fujiwara, T., Kofuji, T., Saito, A., Terao, Y., and Akagawa, K. (2021). Syntaxin 1B regulates synaptic GABA release and extracellular GABA concentration, and is associated with temperature-dependent seizures. *J. Neurochem.* 156, 604–613. doi: 10.1111/jnc.15159
- Mishima, T., Fujiwara, T., Sanada, M., Kofuji, T., Kanai-Azuma, M., and Akagawa, K. (2014). Syntaxin 1B, but Not Syntaxin 1A, Is Necessary for the Regulation of Synaptic Vesicle Exocytosis and of the Readily Releasable Pool at Central Synapses. *PLOS ONE* 9, e90004. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0090004
- Mohanraj, R., and Brodie, M. J. (2005). Outcomes in newly diagnosed localization-related epilepsies. *Seizure* 14, 318–323. doi: 10.1016/j.seizure.2005.04.002
- Moriyoshi, K., Masu, M., Ishii, T., Shigemoto, R., Mizuno, N., and Nakanishi, S. (1991). Molecular cloning and characterization of the rat NMDA receptor. *Nature* 354, 31–37. doi: 10.1038/354031a0
- Mosbacher, J., Schoepfer, R., Monyer, H., Burnashev, N., Seeburg, P. H., and Ruppersberg, J. P. (1994). A Molecular Determinant for Submillisecond Desensitization in Glutamate Receptors. *Science* 266, 1059–1062. doi: 10.1126/science.7973663
- Mulle, C., Sailer, A., Pérez-Otaño, I., Dickinson-Anson, H., Castillo, P. E., Bureau, I., et al. (1998). Altered synaptic physiology and reduced susceptibility to kainate-induced seizures in GluR6deficient mice. *Nature* 392, 601–605. doi: 10.1038/33408
- Najm, I. M., Sarnat, H. B., and Blümcke, I. (2018). Review: The international consensus classification of Focal Cortical Dysplasia – a critical update 2018. *Neuropathol. Appl. Neurobiol.* 44, 18–31. doi: 10.1111/nan.12462
- Nasrallah, K., Frechou, M. A., Yoon, Y. J., Persaud, S., Gonçalves, J. T., and Castillo, P. E. (2022). Seizure-induced strengthening of a recurrent excitatory circuit in the dentate gyrus is proconvulsant. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 119, e2201151119. doi: 10.1073/pnas.2201151119
- Nayeem, N., Green, T. P., Martin, I. L., and Barnard, E. A. (1994). Quaternary Structure of the Native GABAA Receptor Determined by Electron Microscopic Image Analysis. *J. Neurochem.* 62, 815–818. doi: 10.1046/j.1471-4159.1994.62020815.x
- Olsen, R. W., Wamsley, J. K., McCabe, R. T., Lee, R. J., and Lomax, P. (1985). Benzodiazepine/gamma-aminobutyric acid receptor deficit in the midbrain of the seizuresusceptible gerbil. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 82, 6701–6705. doi: 10.1073/pnas.82.19.6701

- Papandreou, A., McTague, A., Trump, N., Ambegaonkar, G., Ngoh, A., Meyer, E., et al. (2016). GABRB3 mutations: a new and emerging cause of early infantile epileptic encephalopathy. *Dev. Med. Child Neurol.* 58, 416–420. doi: 10.1111/dmcn.12976
- Paternain, A. V., Morales, M., and Lerma, J. (1995). Selective antagonism of AMPA receptors unmasks kainate receptor-mediated responses in hippocampal neurons. *Neuron* 14, 185–189. doi: 10.1016/0896-6273(95)90253-8
- Patneau, D. K., and Mayer, M. L. (1991). Kinetic analysis of interactions between kainate and AMPA: evidence for activation of a single receptor in mouse hippocampal neurons. *Neuron* 6, 785–798. doi: 10.1016/0896-6273(91)90175-y
- Paz, J. T., Bryant, A. S., Peng, K., Fenno, L., Yizhar, O., Frankel, W. N., et al. (2011). A new mode of corticothalamic transmission revealed in the Gria4–/– model of absence epilepsy. *Nat. Neurosci.* 14, 1167–1173. doi: 10.1038/nn.2896
- Paz, J. T., and Huguenard, J. R. (2015). Microcircuits and their interactions in epilepsy: is the focus out of focus? *Nat. Neurosci.* 18, 351–359. doi: 10.1038/nn.3950
- Petrovic, M. M., Viana da Silva, S., Clement, J. P., Vyklicky, L., Mulle, C., González-González, I. M., et al. (2017). Metabotropic action of postsynaptic kainate receptors triggers hippocampal long-term potentiation. *Nat. Neurosci.* 20, 529–539. doi: 10.1038/nn.4505
- Pitkänen, A., Saano, V., Hyvonen, K., Airaksinen, M. M., and Riekkinen, P. J. (1987). Decreased GAB A, Benzodiazepine, and Picrotoxinin Receptor Binding in Brains of Rats After Cobalt-Induced Epilepsy. *Epilepsia* 28, 11–16. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1157.1987.tb03614.x
- Poduri, A., Evrony, G. D., Cai, X., Elhosary, P. C., Beroukhim, R., Lehtinen, M. K., et al. (2012). Somatic Activation of AKT3 Causes Hemispheric Developmental Brain Malformations. *Neuron* 74, 41–48. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2012.03.010
- Pothmann, L., Klos, C., Braganza, O., Schmidt, S., Horno, O., Memmesheimer, R.-M., et al. (2019). Altered Dynamics of Canonical Feedback Inhibition Predicts Increased Burst Transmission in Chronic Epilepsy. J. Neurosci. 39, 8998–9012. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2594-18.2019
- Pothmann, L., Müller, C., Averkin, R. G., Bellistri, E., Miklitz, C., Uebachs, M., et al. (2014). Function of Inhibitory Micronetworks Is Spared by Na+ Channel-Acting Anticonvulsant Drugs. *J. Neurosci.* 34, 9720–9735. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2395-13.2014
- Rasmussen, H., Jensen, P., Lake, W., and Goodman, D. B. P. (1976). Calcium ion as second messenger. *Clin. Endocrinol.* (*Oxf.*) 5. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2265.1976.tb03812.x
- Rich, S., Moradi Chameh, H., Lefebvre, J., and Valiante, T. A. (2022). Loss of neuronal heterogeneity in epileptogenic human tissue impairs network resilience to sudden changes in synchrony. *Cell Rep.* 39, 110863. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2022.110863
- Rodríguez-Moreno, A., Herreras, O., and Lerma, J. (1997). Kainate Receptors Presynaptically Downregulate GABAergic Inhibition in the Rat Hippocampus. *Neuron* 19, 893–901. doi: 10.1016/S0896-6273(00)80970-8
- Rohena, L., Neidich, J., Truitt Cho, M., Gonzalez, K. D., Tang, S., Devinsky, O., et al. (2013). Mutation in SNAP25 as a novel genetic cause of epilepsy and intellectual disability. *Rare Dis.* 1, e26314. doi: 10.4161/rdis.26314
- Rossignol, E., Kruglikov, I., van den Maagdenberg, A. M. J. M., Rudy, B., and Fishell, G. (2013). CaV2.1 ablation in cortical interneurons selectively impairs fast-spiking basket cells and causes generalized seizures. *Ann. Neurol.* 74, 209–222. doi: 10.1002/ana.23913
- Russo, I., Bonini, D., Via, L. L., Barlati, S., and Barbon, A. (2013). AMPA Receptor Properties are Modulated in the Early Stages Following Pilocarpine-induced Status Epilepticus. *NeuroMolecular Med.* 15, 324–338. doi: 10.1007/s12017-013-8221-6
- Sallard, E., Letourneur, D., and Legendre, P. (2021). Electrophysiology of ionotropic GABA receptors. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* 78, 5341–5370. doi: 10.1007/s00018-021-03846-2
- Sanchez, R. M., Koh, S., Rio, C., Wang, C., Lamperti, E. D., Sharma, D., et al. (2001). Decreased Glutamate Receptor 2 Expression and Enhanced Epileptogenesis in Immature Rat Hippocampus after Perinatal Hypoxia-Induced Seizures. *J. Neurosci.* 21, 8154–8163. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.21-20-08154.2001

- Sander, T., Hildmann, T., Kretz, R., Fürst, R., Sailer, U., Bauer, G., et al. (1997). Allelic association of juvenile absence epilepsy with a GluR5 kainate receptor gene (GRIK1) polymorphism. *Am. J. Med. Genet.* 74, 416–421.
- Sarbassov, D. D., Ali, S. M., and Sabatini, D. M. (2005). Growing roles for the mTOR pathway. *Curr. Opin. Cell Biol.* 17, 596–603. doi: 10.1016/j.ceb.2005.09.009
- Sarnat, H. B., and Flores-Sarnat, L. (2021). Excitatory/Inhibitory Synaptic Ratios in Polymicrogyria and Down Syndrome Help Explain Epileptogenesis in Malformations. *Pediatr. Neurol.* 116, 41–54. doi: 10.1016/j.pediatrneurol.2020.11.001
- Schubert, J., Siekierska, A., Langlois, M., May, P., Huneau, C., Becker, F., et al. (2014). Mutations in STX1B, encoding a presynaptic protein, cause fever-associated epilepsy syndromes. *Nat. Genet.* 46, 1327–1332. doi: 10.1038/ng.3130
- Selak, S., Paternain, A. V., Aller, I. M., Picó, E., Rivera, R., and Lerma, J. (2009). A Role for SNAP25 in Internalization of Kainate Receptors and Synaptic Plasticity. *Neuron* 63, 357–371. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2009.07.017
- Sieghart, W., and Sperk, G. (2002). Subunit Composition, Distribution and Function of GABA-A Receptor Subtypes. *Curr. Top. Med. Chem.* 2, 795–816.
- Sivakumar, S., Ghasemi, M., and Schachter, S. C. (2022). Targeting NMDA Receptor Complex in Management of Epilepsy. *Pharmaceuticals* 15, 1297. doi: 10.3390/ph15101297
- Söllner, T., Whiteheart, S. W., Brunner, M., Erdjument-Bromage, H., Geromanos, S., Tempst, P., et al. (1993). SNAP receptors implicated in vesicle targeting and fusion. *Nature* 362, 318–324. doi: 10.1038/362318a0
- Sørensen, J. B., Nagy, G., Varoqueaux, F., Nehring, R. B., Brose, N., Wilson, M. C., et al. (2003). Differential Control of the Releasable Vesicle Pools by SNAP-25 Splice Variants and SNAP-23. *Cell* 114, 75–86. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(03)00477-X
- Spreafico, R., Battaglia, G., Arcelli, P., Andermann, F., Dubeau, F., Palmini, A., et al. (1998). Cortical dysplasia: an immunocytochemical study of three patients. *Neurology* 50, 27–36. doi: 10.1212/wnl.50.1.27
- Spreafico, R., Tassi, L., Colombo, N., Bramerio, M., Galli, C., Garbelli, R., et al. (2000). Inhibitory Circuits in Human Dysplastic Tissue. *Epilepsia* 41, S168–S173. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1157.2000.tb01576.x
- Stutterd, C. A., Brock, S., Stouffs, K., Fanjul-Fernandez, M., Lockhart, P. J., McGillivray, G., et al. (2021). Genetic heterogeneity of polymicrogyria: study of 123 patients using deep sequencing. *Brain Commun.* 3, fcaa221. doi: 10.1093/braincomms/fcaa221
- Stutterd, C. A., Dobyns, W. B., Jansen, A., Mirzaa, G., and Leventer, R. J. (1993). "Polymicrogyria Overview," in *GeneReviews*®, eds. M. P. Adam, J. Feldman, G. M. Mirzaa, R. A. Pagon, S. E. Wallace, L. J. Bean, et al. (Seattle (WA): University of Washington, Seattle). Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK1329/ (Accessed April 29, 2024).
- Stutterd, C. A., Francis, D., McGillivray, G., Lockhart, P. J., and Leventer, R. J. (2020). Polymicrogyria associated with 17p13.3p13.2 duplication: Case report and review of the literature. *Eur. J. Med. Genet.* 63, 103774. doi: 10.1016/j.ejmg.2019.103774
- Stutterd, C., McGillivray, G., Stark, Z., Messazos, B., Cameron, F., White, S., et al. (2018). Polymicrogyria in association with hypoglycemia points to mutation in the mTOR pathway. *Eur. J. Med. Genet.* 61, 738–740. doi: 10.1016/j.ejmg.2018.06.002
- Sugiyama, T., Shinoe, T., Ito, Y., Misawa, H., Tojima, T., Ito, E., et al. (2000). A novel function of synapsin II in neurotransmitter release. *Mol. Brain Res.* 85, 133–143. doi: 10.1016/S0169-328X(00)00231-X
- Sutton, R. B., Fasshauer, D., Jahn, R., and Brunger, A. T. (1998). Crystal structure of a SNARE complex involved in synaptic exocytosis at 2.4 Å resolution. *Nature* 395, 347–353. doi: 10.1038/26412
- Tai, C., Abe, Y., Westenbroek, R. E., Scheuer, T., and Catterall, W. A. (2014). Impaired excitability of somatostatin- and parvalbumin-expressing cortical interneurons in a mouse model of Dravet syndrome. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 111, E3139–E3148. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1411131111

- Tanaka, M., Olsen, R. W., Medina, M. T., Schwartz, E., Alonso, M. E., Duron, R. M., et al. (2008). Hyperglycosylation and Reduced GABA Currents of Mutated GABRB3 Polypeptide in Remitting Childhood Absence Epilepsy. *Am. J. Hum. Genet.* 82, 1249–1261. doi: 10.1016/j.ajhg.2008.04.020
- Tasic, B., Yao, Z., Graybuck, L. T., Smith, K. A., Nguyen, T. N., Bertagnolli, D., et al. (2018). Shared and distinct transcriptomic cell types across neocortical areas. *Nature* 563, 72–78. doi: 10.1038/s41586-018-0654-5
- Taylor, D. C., Falconer, M. A., Bruton, C. J., and Corsellis, J. a. N. (1971). Focal dysplasia of the cerebral cortex in epilepsy. *J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry* 34, 369–387. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.34.4.369
- Thouta, S., Zhang, Y., Garcia, E., and Snutch, T. P. (2021). Kv1.1 channels mediate network excitability and feed-forward inhibition in local amygdala circuits. *Sci. Rep.* 11, 15180. doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-94633-3
- Toering, S. T., Boer, K., De Groot, M., Troost, D., Heimans, J. J., Spliet, W. G. M., et al. (2009). Expression patterns of synaptic vesicle protein 2A in focal cortical dysplasia and TSC-cortical tubers. *Epilepsia* 50, 1409–1418. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1167.2008.01955.x
- Tomasoni, R., Repetto, D., Morini, R., Elia, C., Gardoni, F., Di Luca, M., et al. (2013). SNAP-25 regulates spine formation through postsynaptic binding to p140Cap. *Nat. Commun.* 4, 2136. doi: 10.1038/ncomms3136
- Trevelyan, A. J., Sussillo, D., and Yuste, R. (2007). Feedforward Inhibition Contributes to the Control of Epileptiform Propagation Speed. J. Neurosci. 27, 3383–3387. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0145-07.2007
- Ueda, T., Maeno, H., and Greengard, P. (1973). Regulation of Endogenous Phosphorylation of Specific Proteins in Synaptic Membrane Fractions from Rat Brain by Adenosine 3':5'-Monophosphate. *J. Biol. Chem.* 248, 8295–8305. doi: 10.1016/S0021-9258(19)43227-4
- Vardar, G., Gerth, F., Schmitt, X. J., Rautenstrauch, P., Trimbuch, T., Schubert, J., et al. (2020). Epilepsy-causing STX1B mutations translate altered protein functions into distinct phenotypes in mouse neurons. *Brain* 143, 2119–2138. doi: 10.1093/brain/awaa151
- Vlaskamp, D. R. M., Rump, P., Callenbach, P. M. C., Vos, Y. J., Sikkema-Raddatz, B., van Ravenswaaij-Arts, C. M. A., et al. (2016). Haploinsufficiency of the STX1B gene is associated with myoclonic astatic epilepsy. Eur. J. Paediatr. Neurol. 20, 489–492. doi: 10.1016/j.ejpn.2015.12.014
- Wang, P., Zhang, Y., Wang, Z., Yang, A., Li, Y., and Zhang, Q. (2021). miR-128 regulates epilepsy sensitivity in mice by suppressing SNAP-25 and SYT1 expression in the hippocampus. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 545, 195–202. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2021.01.079
- Watanabe, S., Yamamori, S., Otsuka, S., Saito, M., Suzuki, E., Kataoka, M., et al. (2015). Epileptogenesis and epileptic maturation in phosphorylation site-specific SNAP-25 mutant mice. *Epilepsy Res.* 115, 30–44. doi: 10.1016/j.eplepsyres.2015.05.004
- Williams, P. A., White, A. M., Clark, S., Ferraro, D. J., Swiercz, W., Staley, K. J., et al. (2009). Development of Spontaneous Recurrent Seizures after Kainate-Induced Status Epilepticus. J. Neurosci. 29, 2103–2112. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0980-08.2009
- Wolking, S., May, P., Mei, D., Møller, R. S., Balestrini, S., Helbig, K. L., et al. (2019). Clinical spectrum of STX1B-related epileptic disorders. *Neurology* 92, e1238–e1249. doi: 10.1212/WNL.000000000007089
- Wu, T.-Y., Liu, C.-I., and Chang, Y.-C. (1996). A study of the oligomeric state of the α-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid-preferring glutamate receptors in the synaptic junctions of porcine brain. *Biochem. J.* 319, 731–739. doi: 10.1042/bj3190731
- Wu, Y.-J., Tejero, R., Arancillo, M., Vardar, G., Korotkova, T., Kintscher, M., et al. (2015). Syntaxin 1B is important for mouse postnatal survival and proper synaptic function at the mouse neuromuscular junctions. *J. Neurophysiol.* 114, 2404–2417. doi: 10.1152/jn.00577.2015
- Xu, T., and Bajjalieh, S. M. (2001). SV2 modulates the size of the readily releasable pool of secretory vesicles. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 3, 691–698. doi: 10.1038/35087000

- Yang, Y., Zeng, Q., Cheng, M., Niu, X., Xiangwei, W., Gong, P., et al. (2022). GABRB3-related epilepsy: novel variants, clinical features and therapeutic implications. *J. Neurol.* 269, 2649–2665. doi: 10.1007/s00415-021-10834-w
- Yu, F. H., Mantegazza, M., Westenbroek, R. E., Robbins, C. A., Kalume, F., Burton, K. A., et al. (2006). Reduced sodium current in GABAergic interneurons in a mouse model of severe myoclonic epilepsy in infancy. *Nat. Neurosci.* 9, 1142–1149. doi: 10.1038/nn1754
- Yu, H., Yang, X., Tang, X., and Tang, R. (2018). Effects of spontaneous recurrent seizures on cognitive function via modulation of SNAREs expression. *Int. J. Neurosci.* 128, 376–383. doi: 10.1080/00207454.2017.1387115
- Zaitsev, A. V., Amakhin, D. V., Dyomina, A. V., Zakharova, M. V., Ergina, J. L., Postnikova, T. Y., et al. (2021). Synaptic Dysfunction in Epilepsy. *J. Evol. Biochem. Physiol.* 57, 542–563. doi: 10.1134/S002209302103008X
- Zhang, L., and Wang, Y. (2021). Gene therapy in epilepsy. *Biomed. Pharmacother.* 143, 112075. doi: 10.1016/j.biopha.2021.112075
- Zhang, Q., Forster-Gibson, C., Bercovici, E., Bernardo, A., Ding, F., Shen, W., et al. (2023). Epilepsy plus blindness in microdeletion of GABRA1 and GABRG2 in mouse and human. *Exp. Neurol.* 369, 114537. doi: 10.1016/j.expneurol.2023.114537
- Zhong, S., Zhao, Z., Xie, W., Cai, Y., Zhang, Y., Ding, J., et al. (2021). GABAergic Interneuron and Neurotransmission Are mTOR-Dependently Disturbed in Experimental Focal Cortical Dysplasia. *Mol. Neurobiol.* 58, 156–169. doi: 10.1007/s12035-020-02086-y